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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
For year ended 30 June 2016

HON TERRY REDMAN MLA

MINISTER FOR REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Mid West Development Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006.

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE		  GAVIN TREASURE
CHAIRMAN		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
13 September 2016					     13 September 2016

Contact Details

Postal	 Street		  Electronic
PO Box 238	 Level 2, Foreshore Business Centre		 Internet: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au
Geraldton WA 6531	 Foreshore Business Centre		  Email: info@mwdc.wa.gov.au
	 209 Foreshore Drive		  Telephone:	 61 8 9921 0702
	 GERALDTON  WA  6530		  Facsimile:	 61 8 9921 0707
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OVERVIEW
CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
In August 2015 the Mid West Development 
Commission (MWDC) presented the Mid West 
Regional Blueprint – the region’s growth and 
development strategy to 2050.  The Blueprint 
articulated an ambitious vision with strong 
external focus on its traditional trading 
strengths, coupled with an internal commitment 
to delivering benefits for Mid West people and 
communities.

Almost exactly one year later I look back at that 
vision and think we got it right!  Despite our 
challenging economic parameters and difficult 
government spending constraints, it remains 
critical that Mid West people, businesses and 
community groups strive towards their own 
growth, development and self sufficiency.

We clearly understand our strengths as a region 
and are focused on capitalising upon that base, 
rather than trying to change into something we’re 
not.  We also recognise that our strong base 
provides excellent potential for innovation and 
entrepreneurship to help drive new opportunities 
and prosperity.  Above all, our residents and 
communities must win from any economic 
activity and the vision provides a strong reminder 
about the need to ensure liveability and thriving 
Mid West communities.

Throughout the Blueprint’s development phase 
and since its completion, the Commission has 
garnered enormous collective support for its 
delivery.  We now see strong understanding 
and momentum from agencies, communities 
and individuals towards pursuing this growth 
and development agenda.  So with a team 
now forming around us I am now even more 
resolute in the path we have laid down.

This annual report outlines the Commission’s 
performance and key achievements for 
2015‑16 and provides an excellent vehicle 
through which to outline the progress made 
towards delivering blueprint outcomes.  I am 
pleased to use this platform to do so.

Our Blueprint provides a very deliberate 
strategic framework with five pillars and 22 
elements outlined as critical to growth and 
development.  It also has strong and deliberate 
alignment to other key government, industry 
and community strategic planning.  But rather 
than stop at this high strategic level, we have 
been working hard to ‘drill down’ into focus 
areas to better understand the triggers and 
investments needed to facilitate the desired 
change in our region.

The Mid West is a national gateway to the globe through its 
diverse and entrepreneurial business and export economy.

High value industries generate prosperity and the most 
desirable, adaptive and connected communities in Australia.

 MID WEST 2050 VISION
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PILLAR ELEMENT

PHYSICAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Movement of people  
and resources

Water

Energy

Waste

DIGITAL AND 
COMMUNICATIONS

Telecommunications 
infrastructure

Connected communities

ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

Resource economy

Tourism

Agriculture and food

Land availability

Business and industry 
development

Trade development

Security

HIGHLY 
DESIRABLE 
COMMUNITIES

Community 
development, leadership 
and collaboration

Spaces and places

Regional housing

Health and wellbeing

Remote communities

Environment

KNOWLEDGE  
AND LEARNING

Education and training

Workforce development

Research and innovation  

We have made significant progress on a 
number of key bodies of work to help identify 
priority interventions and provide the necessary 
arguments and justification to enable their 
delivery.  These development strategies are 
fundamental to our Blueprint implementation 
process and are providing necessary depth 
and rigour to each identified focus areas.  
The development strategies we have tackled 
so far include the following.

•	 Mid West Tourism Development Strategy 	
(Complete)

•	 Mid West Business Development Strategy 
(Complete)

•	 Mid West Digital and Communications 
Strategy (Complete)

•	 Mid West Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
(Draft)

•	 Mid West Water Development Strategy 
(Draft)

•	 Mid West Energy Development Strategy 
(Draft)

•	 Mid West Innovation Agenda (Stage 1) 
(Draft)

•	 Mid West Agriculture Development Strategy 
(Underway)

•	 Mid West Transport Development Strategy 
(Underway)

•	 Mid West Knowledge and Learning Strategy 
(Underway)

Although this approach isn’t quick, it is proving 
to be very effective and has already resulted 
in significant progress and investment.  
The Mid West Tourism Development Strategy 
(MWTDS) is an excellent example, which has 
placed the necessary strategic focus on tourism 
in the Mid West with a range of stakeholders 
now collaborating to deliver priority projects for 
mutual purpose and shared benefit.

BLUEPRINT implementation
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Strong progress is being made in each of 
the six ‘game changing’ projects outlined 
in the MWTDS.  Funding has already been 
secured for the Kalbarri Skywalk and Mid West 
Coastal Nodes projects, with capital works 
already underway or scheduled to commence 
early in 2016-17.  The Abrolhos Islands 
Tourism Development has also gained strong 
momentum, as has the Murchison geotourism 
development, Rangelands Parks initiative and 
Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail.  We expect 
to see considerable outcomes reached in the 
coming year.

These infrastructure projects are part of 
a broader regional strategy to make the 
Mid West a legitimate tourism alternative with 
sophisticated offerings for all tourism markets.  
The six game changers will complement a 
range of other quality attractions throughout 
the region that will collectively help make the 
Mid West a destination of choice for visitors. 

The Strategy also has a strong focus on 
marketing, capacity building and business 
development to underpin the attractions 
themselves and help build a tourism reputation 
that the region aspired to.  The progress we are 
making in this space is very exciting and the 
opportunities that are emerging for people in the 
region are enormous.

The Mid West Business Development Strategy 
(MWBDS) followed the MWTDS and has also 
gained significant traction since completion.  
The MWBDS outlined five key priorities 
(building blocks) for investment required to 
enable the region’s business sector to meet 
challenges and seize opportunities for growth, 
diversification and to create jobs.  The building 
blocks centre around business leadership, 
capacity building, collaboration (clustering), 
infrastructure investment and marketing.

Progress Mid West (PMW) has emerged as the 
core of the MWBDS to help grow the traded 
economy of the Mid West.  MWDC has partnered 
the Mid West Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry, City of Greater Geraldton and Regional 
Development Australia Mid West Gascoyne 
to establish PMW as the lead entity to drive 
the Strategy with an in initial focus on ‘cluster’ 
development in key local business sectors.

The Cluster Ignition Project evolved through 
the development of the Greater Geraldton 
Growth Plan, which is a core component of the 
Regional Centres Development Plan (stage 2).  
Through PMW, the Mid West food (aquaculture 
and horticulture), marine services and tourism 
sectors have been selected as the pilot 
‘clusters’ for focused attention.  Aligned with the 
Blueprint vision, these sectors have a strong 
foundation in the region with considerable 
upside potential.  Through facilitation, 
businesses within these ‘clusters’ are now 
working collaboratively for mutual gain, with a 
range local initiatives underway. 

Visitors to Port Denison 
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The draft Mid West Digital and Communications 
Strategy (was adopted by the Commission's 
Board late in 2015-16 and has already created 
some excitement.  Access to reliable and 
affordable telecommunications services was 
easily the highest priority issue raised during 
Blueprint consultation and the Strategy has 
developed six ‘transformational projects’ to 
address the key challenges identified.

With a core focus on innovative infrastructure 
and network solutions, the Strategy also targets 
digital literacy, creativity and employment 
as well as the use of telecommunications to 
drive growth in other industry sectors such 
as tourism.  Digital and Communications 
permeates throughout the Blueprint and 
we are very mindful of the wide reaching 
benefits that can be derived through effective 
telecommunications in sectors such as health, 
education.  This is a very exciting sector and 
I look forward to reporting on our progress in 
this area throughout 2016-17.

As can be seen above there are a number 
of other Blueprint development strategies 
well underway.  Our genuine expectation is 
that each strategy will ultimately deliver key 
transformational outcomes for the region, in the 
same way as we are already seeing through 
the MWTDS.  I look forward to reporting on this 
progress in next year’s annual report.

The region is incredibly fortunate to have 
the $220 million Royalties for Regions (RfR) 
Mid West Investment Plan (MWIP) to help 
drive key Mid West infrastructure projects.  
MWIP funding provides the Commission with 
considerable leverage to drive key outcomes 
for the region, including some projects that 
evolved through the Blueprint development 
strategy approach described above.  
The Kalbarri Skywalk is a dominant example, 
with $20.032 million MWIP funding secured in 
2015‑16.

To date, almost $126 million has been 
committed to 37 priority projects, with 
$43.75 million announced for six new projects 
in 2015‑16 (including the Skywalk).  With more 
than $80 million still unallocated, the MWIP 
remains a key focus for the Commission in 
2016-17.

It was again pleasing to see in our annual 
client survey that around 91% of MWDC clients 
agreed that the Commission made a positive 
contribution towards economic development in 
the Mid West in 2015-16.  We have maintained 
this result for at least the past seven years, 
which reflects positively on the Commission’s 
staff and Board.

Our performance and key achievements for 
2015-16 are outlined in more detail on page 15 
under “Agency Performance”.  I’d again like 
to congratulate our great staff and Board on a 
terrific year and am excited about the prospects 
for 2016-17.

Hon Murray Criddle
Chairman
Mid West Development Commission Board

CEDA, State of the Regions conference in Geraldton 
- Future of the Mid West: Delivering on the Blueprint
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Performance Highlights
•	 Completed the Mid West Regional Blueprint, 

which sets an aspirational growth and 
development vision for the region 
to 2050.  The Blueprint was launched by 
the Minister for Regional Development, 
Hon Terry Redman MLA in August 2015.

•	 Following an organisational and operational 
review of the Commission, the Blueprint was 
adopted as the new MWDC Strategic Plan 
to guide future organisational objectives and 
operations.

•	 Continue to support the Regional 
Development Portfolio to implement a 
nine point Action Plan under the Regional 
Development Reform process which 
includes developing five initial High Impact 
Programs for initial strategic delivery.

•	 Progress or complete a number of key 
bodies of work to support implementation of 
priorities from the Blueprint; namely:

o	 Mid West Health and Wellbeing Strategy;

o	 Mid West Business Development Strategy;

o	 Mid West Digital and Communications 
Strategy;

o	 Mid West Agriculture Development 
Strategy;

o	 Mid West Energy Development Strategy;

o	 Mid West Transport Development Strategy;

o	 Mid West Knowledge and Learning 
Strategy; and

o	 Mid West Innovation Agenda (Stage 1).

•	 Activated ‘Progress Mid West’ to provide 
“Business Concierge” services for investors 
seeking to invest in the Mid West.

•	 Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton, 
Department of Regional Development 
and others to progress the development 
of a Greater Geraldton Growth Plan.  
As an initiative of Regional Centres 
Development Plan Stage 2, the Plan 
aims to drive economic and employment 
outcomes, and the long term prosperity of 
Greater Geraldton.

•	 Continued to deliver of the Commission’s 
Mid West Investment Plan (MWIP), with 
$220 million allocated from Royalties for 
Regions (RfR) in 2011‑12 to address the 
region’s infrastructure priorities.  To date 
the MWIP has provided $125.9 million 
to 37 projects with a construction value 
totaling $229 million.  MWIP funding totalling 
$43.75 million was announced for six new 
projects in 2015-16.  Projects seeking an 
additional $12 million from MWIP were also 
assessed and recommended in 2015‑16, 
with approvals to be sought in 2016-17.

•	 Significant progress was made in relation 
to a range of priority MWIP projects during 
2015-16; namely:

o	 Yuna Community Centre;

o	 East Bowes road sealing;

o	 Dongara – Northampton Strategic 
Corridor Planning Study;

o	 Goldfields Highway between Wiluna and 
Meekatharra (National Highway #1);

o	 Ballinyoo Bridge and its southern 
approach over the Murchison River;

o	 Stage 2 of the Batavia Coast Marina 
redevelopment;

o	 Beresford Foreshore coastal protection 
and enhancement works;

o	 new Foodbank Geraldton premises;

o	 Kalbarri National Park Skywalk;

o	 Horrocks Community Centre;

o	 Central Regional TAFE Geraldton 
Interactive Student Hub;

o	 Monsignor Hawes Heritage Centre;

o	 capital works upgrades at the 
Geraldton Cemetery;

o	 improved health facilities in 
Mount Magnet and Meekatharra; and

o	 Wonthella Oval lighting project.
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•	 Administered the Royalties for Regions 
Mid West Regional Grants Scheme (RGS) 
and Community Chest Fund (CCF).  This 
included recommending $1.56 million of 
contestable RGS funding to nine projects 
(for announcement in 2016-17) and 
$257,720 from the CCF to 16 projects.

•	 Worked with the Mid West Tourism 
Alliance and stakeholders to deliver key 
development priorities from the Mid West 
Tourism Development Strategy (MWTDS).  
RfR funding was secured for two of the six 
tourism ‘game changers’; namely Mid West 
Coastal Nodes and Kalbarri Skywalk.  
MWDC also worked with stakeholders to 
progress the other four MWTDS ‘game 
changers’; namely Sustainable Development 
of the Abrolhos Islands; Murchison 
Geotourism Development; Rangelands 
Parks; and Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail.

•	 Continued to support development of a 
Mid West marine aquaculture industry by:

o	 assisting the execution of the Yellow Tail 
Kingfish (YTK) Grow-out Trial (Stage 2);

o	 progressing a unified State agency 
position on aquaculture across WA; 

o	 cohosting the inaugural 2016 Aquaculture 
Western Australia State Forum;

o	 successfully advocating for a State 
government ‘statement of intent’ to 
develop aquaculture in WA; 

o	 working to progress the establishment of 
Marine Aquaculture Zones in WA waters; 
and

o	 developing a Investing in Mid West 
Aquaculture publication. 

•	 Achieved strong results in the annual client 
perceptions survey, including that 91% 
of clients agree the Commission makes 
a positive contribution towards economic 
development in the Mid West.
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
Enabling Legislation
The Mid West Development Commission is a 
State Government statutory authority managed 
by a community based Board.  

The Commission functions under the provisions 
of the Regional Development Commissions Act 
(1993) and is one of nine regional development 
commissions in Western Australia.

Responsible Minister
Hon Terry Redman MLA 
Minister for Regional Development

Organisational Structure

Mission

To have the Mid West region recognised as a 
preferred region in which to live, work, study 
and invest.

Strategic Directions

The Commission’s future direction is set out in 
its Mid West Regional Blueprint (August 2015).  

The Commission has undergone a full strategic 
and organisational review with a view to realign 
resources to optimise delivery of Blueprint 
priorities.  The new structure will be introduced 
in 2015‑16, with staff allocated specific areas of 
responsibility from the Blueprint.

Hon Terry Redman  MLA
Minister for Regional Development

Board of Management

Gavin Treasure
Chief Executive Officer

Economic Development & Communication Communities & Learning Strategy & Commercial Infrastructure & Digital

Jacinta Potts
Commercial Manager

(level 6)

Kris Nestoridis
Finance & Admin 
Officer (level 2) 

Mike Kendall
Project Manager 

(level 6)

Anne Finlay
Project Manager

(level 5)

Trish Palmonari
Assistant Director

(level 8)

Brendin Flanigan
Project Manager 

(level 6)

Adam Murszewski
Project Manager

(level 5)

Fiona Shallcross
Project Manager

(level 5)

Trevor Price
Assistant Director

(level 8)

Adrian Stewart
Project Manager

(level 7)

Neil Condon
Assistant Director

(level 8)

Steve Douglas
Assistant Director

(level 8)

Regina Frewen 
Admin Assistant 

(level 1) 

Kylie Paine
Project Officer

(level 4)

Robert Smallwood
Project Manager

(level 7)

Organisational Chart
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Board of the Authority
The Mid West Development Commission 
is managed by a Board of regional 
representatives comprising Local Government, 
Community and Ministerial appointments. 

The Commission’s Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) is an ex‑officio member of the Board.

During 2015-16, Mr Ian Carpenter and 
Mr Ashley Dowden both resigned from the 
Commission Board after three years of service.  
In addition, the following Board members 
served during 2015-16 and comprise the 
Commission’s current Board.

Board Profiles

Hon Murray Criddle - Chairperson

Murray is a primary producer and a retired 
Member of the Western Australian Parliament. 
He was Member for the Agricultural Region 
from 1993 until his resignation in 2008 and 
Minister for Transport from 1998 to 2001. 
During his time in Parliament Murray was a 
member of a number of Standing Committees 
including Estimates and Financial Operations, 
Ecology and Sustainable Development, and 
Public Administration and Finance. He was also 
a member of a number of Select Committees 
including Select Committee for Native Title and 
Select Committee for Cape Range National 
Park and Ningaloo Marine Park. Murray was 
a Ministerial appointment to the Commission 
Board in 2009 as Chairman.

Mr Todd West

Todd is CEO of Glass Co WA, which is 
WA’s largest regional glass processing and 
manufacturing facility and has won multiple 
local and State awards. Prior to Glass Co, 
Todd owned and operated Wests Glass, 
Security and Home Improvements before 
merging the two businesses in 2012. ‘Wests’ 
has operated in the Mid West since 1968 
as a family business. As a dedicated local 
business owner Todd is passionate about 
expanding the Mid West as a service centre 
for the North West of WA and advocates for 
continued infrastructure investment in local 
businesses. He is Vice President of the Mid 
West Chamber of Commerce and Industry, 
Executive Board Member of the local 
Master Builders Association and Regional 
Executive Member for the Glass and 
Window Association of WA. Todd joined the 
Commission Board in 2014 as a Community 
appointment.

Cr Michelle Bagley

Michelle is a primary producer at Yandanooka 
in the Shire of Mingenew. Michelle was elected 
to the Mingenew Shire Council in 1999 and 
has been Shire President for the past seven 
years. Prior to entering Local Government 
Michelle was actively involved in the several 
Mingenew sporting clubs and community 
committees.  Michelle was Coordinator of 
the local Youth Advisory Council for three 
years. Michelle is current Chair of the Midwest 
Regional Council, Chair of the North Midlands 
Regional Road Group and Deputy Chair of 
the Mid West Regional Road Group. She was 
the delegate for the Northern Country Zone of 
Local Government and also recently become 
a member of the Western Australian College 
of Agriculture - Morawa’s Independent Public 
Schools Board. Michelle joined the Commission 
Board in 2012 as a Local Government member.

Hon Murray Criddle at the opening of the Original Railway Station, Geraldton
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Cr Kirrilee Warr

Kirrilee lives in Yuna (Chapman Valley) 
and is a Director, along with her husband, 
of their broadacre agricultural enterprise.  
She has strong community involvement in 
sport, environment, heritage and industry 
development.  Kirrilee recently completed a 
three year term on the Rural, Remote, and 
Regional Women’s Network reference group 
and currently holds board appointments 
with Racing and Wagering WA and Regional 
Development Australia Mid West Gascoyne.  
She is also Secretary of the Yuna Farm 
Improvement Group and was recently elected 
to the Shire of Chapman Valley Council.  
Kirrilee is passionate about empowering young 
people and women, telecommunications, 
economic development of primary industries, 
and education.  She is also a member 
and Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.  Kirrilee was a Ministerial 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2012.

Ms Christine Kerr

Chris is currently a Consultant / Director with 
Transition Management, a business that 
undertakes a range of contracts and projects, 
particularly human services. She has had long 
term involvement in the TAFE, labour market 
and disability sectors. She has an interest in the 
future direction of the education and training 
environment and the development of innovative 
sports, arts and environmental tourism in the 
region.  Chris also advocates strongly for 
equitable inclusion of all people in employment, 
education, training and community to build 
dynamic and proactive communities. Chris has 
a passion for communities that value diversity 
and has sought to combine her personal and 
professional interests to promote community 
inclusion.  She has been a Board member of 
the WA Disability Services Commission (DSC), 
Deputy Chairperson of the National Disability 
and Carers Advisory Council and is the DSC 
‘Count Me In’ Ambassador for Mid West. 
Chris was awarded the Centenary Medal for 
service to the disabled community.  Chris was 
a Ministerial appointment to the Commission 
Board in 2014.

Ms Michelle Allen

Michelle has a strong farming and community 
background with experience as a grain 
and livestock producer in WA’s Northern 
Agricultural Region.  She was a Director in 
a broad acre family farming enterprise in 
Northampton and actively involved in the 
financial management and enterprise planning 
of the business.  Michelle is passionate 
about local communities and has extensive 
experience working within community, industry 
and government organisations in a variety of 
roles. Initially she worked within grower and 
research organisations developing policy and 
strategies associated with seed imports, grains 
research and natural resource management.  
She was also a member of the Agricultural 
Protection Board of WA from 1999 – 2010, 
during which time she Chaired a Parliamentary 
Review of the State Wild Dog Management 
Program.  Michelle remains involved with a 
number of local organisations in a governance 
capacity and plays a key role in the areas of 
communication and strategic planning.  She 
has a particular interest in seeing the Mid West 
prosper and develop capacity to meet the 
intense challenges and terrific opportunities 
that come to such a diverse region.  Michelle 
was a Community appointment to the 
Commission Board in 2014.

Mr Shane Van Styn

Shane has worked as an accountant for the 
last 18 years, and has been involved in a 
range of small and medium businesses in the 
hospitality, construction, property services and 
security industries.  He was first elected to the 
City of Greater Geraldton Council in 2011 and 
in October 2015 was elected the position of 
Mayor.  Shane has served as the Chairperson 
of the Audit Committee of the City since 2011 
and in 2016 has assumed the role of Chair 
of Regional Capitals Australia.  Shane is a 
Fellow of CPA Australia and holds a degree in 
Accounting and is a registered taxation agent 
and auditor.  Whilst born in urban Perth, Shane 
long expressed a desire to move to the regions.  
His ascension to the position of Mayor in 
regional WA is the fulfilment of a lifelong passion 
of being dedicated to the service of a regional 
community.  Shane was a Local Government 
appointment to the Commission Board in 2016.
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Ms Carole Minney

Carole has a strong background in the 
areas of health, employment, education 
and training and youth affairs.  Based in 
Mount Magnet, she is a Councillor at the 
Shire of Mount Magnet and is Treasurer of 
the Mount Magnet Aboriginal Corporation.  
She is the Mount Magnet representative 
for the Mid West Aboriginal Organisations 
Alliance.  Carole is also a St John Ambulance 
Volunteer at the Mount Magnet Sub Centre.  
Carole has a keen interest Aboriginal economic 
development through tourism.  Carole was 
a Local Government appointment to the 
Commission Board in 2016.

Mr Gavin Treasure

Gavin is Chief Executive Officer of the 
Mid West Development Commission and is a 
member of the Board in this capacity.

Senior Officers

Mr Gavin Treasure  
(Chief Executive Officer)

Gavin joined the Commission in October 
2012 after eight years as CEO of the 
Shire of Morawa.  He is a certified 
practising accountant and also holds a 
Master of Business Administration and 
Master of Commerce.

Administered Legislation 
The Mid West Development Commission also 
administers the following related Acts:

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina 
Development Act 1990

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Act 1929

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute Enabling Act 1934

•	 Geraldton Sailors and Soldiers’ Memorial 
Institute (Trust Property Disposition) 
Act 1938

Other Key Legislation Impacting 
on Mid West Development 
Commission’s Activities
In the performance of its functions, the 
Mid West Development Commission complies 
with the following relevant written laws:

•	 Disability Services Act 1993

•	 Electoral Act 1907

•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984

•	 Financial Management Act 2006

•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992

•	 Geraldton Foreshore and Marina 
Development Act 1990

•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979

•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1983

•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994

•	 Royalties for Regions Act 2009

•	 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

•	 State Records Act 2000

•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991

•	 Workers Compensation and Rehabilitation 
Act 1981
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Outcome Based Management Framework
Broad government goals are supported at agency level by specific outcomes.  Agencies deliver 
services to achieve these outcomes.  The following tables illustrate the relationship between the 
Commission’s services and desired outcomes, and the government goal they contribute to.

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

Stronger Focus on the Regions:

Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve 
the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West 
region.

1.	 Information and Advice

2.	 Investment Facilitation

3.	 Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West

Service 1: Information and Advice

To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between 
government, business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact, 
and by raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation

To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base 
and is attractive to investors.

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

To facilitate the development of infrastructure and services based on long term economic 
development strategies, to support communities and businesses in the Mid West.

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 2015-16.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2015-16.
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE
REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Service 1: Information and Advice
To contribute to economic growth and 
employment by developing strategic 
partnerships between government, business 
and the community, providing a central point 
of coordination and contact, and by raising 
awareness of the Mid West region.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Administered the Royalties for Regions 
(RfR) Mid West Regional Grants Scheme 
(RGS) and Community Chest Fund (CCF).  
This included:

o	 allocating $1.56 million of contestable 
RGS funding to nine projects 
(for announcement in 2016-17);

o	 allocating $257,720 from the CCF to 16 
projects; and

o	 supporting recipients of all RGS and 
CCF funding from previous rounds to 
effectively report on and acquit their 
grants.

(Please refer to the tables at the end of this 
Report on Operations section for full details of 
Mid West RGS and CCF allocations).

•	 Provided advice and assistance to clients 
with project planning and development, 
identification of suitable grant opportunities 
and applications for grant funding.

•	 Provided updates to stakeholders on the 
status of various major Mid West projects.

•	 Updated the Mid West Mining Register to help 
local businesses identify and win procurement 
opportunities from resource projects. 

•	 Collated and provided statistical data to 
a range of stakeholders to assist with 
planning in response to social, economic, 
employment and industry growth and 
development within the Mid West.

•	 Continued working with the Murchison 
Executive Group, which includes the CEOs 
of seven Murchison local governments, to 
identify opportunities for local government 
collaboration and resource sharing in the 
Murchison subregion, specifically focusing 
on economic development opportunities and 
subregional tourism.

•	 Facilitated the establishment of the 
North Midlands Strategic Working Group 
made up of the Presidents and CEOs of five 
North Midlands Shires and the Shire of Irwin 
to identify opportunities for local government 
collaboration and resource sharing.

•	 Promote and provide a range of opportunities 
for professional development, collegiality and 
mentoring for a network of local government 
Community Development Officers 
(CDOs) and Community Resource Centre 
coordinators (CRCs).  The CDO network 
now extends across a number of regions 
and continues to enhance collaboration 
amongst CDOs.  This has resulted in more 
effective delivery of community programs and 
a significantly reduced turnover of staff within 
the region and beyond.

•	 Developed a Corporate Communications 
Plan and a range of new communications 
tools to help promote the role and activities 
of the Commission, including a new 
MWDC website, newsletter template and a 
2015 The Year That Was DVD.

Meekatharra Rangelands Discovery trail upgrade,  
2015-16 CCF project
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•	 Coordinated Ministerial visits to the region 
for launches and announcements of funding 
for a range of Mid West projects.

•	 Participated in the Mid West Economic 
Summit 2015 “Delivering on the Blueprint”.

•	 Hosted the successful CEDA (Committee 
for Economic Development of Australia) 
State of the Regions Conference in 
Geraldton (March 2016) with key note 
speaker Peter Fitzsimons.  The conference 
was titled ‘Future of the Mid West: 
Delivering on the Blueprint’ and was 
attended by around 150 delegates.

Major Initiatives for 2016-17

•	 Promote the strategic use of available RfR 
funding through:

o	 pursuit of Mid West Regional Blueprint 
outcomes;

o	 planning for priority major projects; and

o	 	delivery of targeted projects that will 
improve economic and community 
infrastructure and services.

•	 	Deliver the 2016-17 round of the Mid West 
RGS and CCF and continue to liaise with 
clients progressing previous grants.

•	 Continue to update stakeholders on the status 
of major projects in the Mid West region.

•	 Update Mid West Major Projects Summary 
for distribution to businesses, industry 
associations and government agencies in 
WA, nationally and overseas.

•	 Update the Mid West Mining Register 
as development occurs to assist local 
businesses identify and win procurement 
opportunities.

•	 Continue to support a professional peer 
network for regional WA’s local government 
CDOs and regional CRC coordinators 
to enhance collaboration and program 
delivery and limit historically high rates of 
staff turnover.

Service 2: Investment Facilitation
To create a business environment within the 
Mid West region that has a diverse economic 
base and is attractive to investors.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Continued to support development of a 
Mid West marine aquaculture industry by:

o	 assisting the proponent and government 
agencies with execution of the Yellow Tail 
Kingfish (YTK) Grow-out Trial (Stage 2);

o	 progressing a unified State agency 
position on aquaculture across WA through 
engagement with other jurisdictions; 

o	 working with the Pilbara Development 
Commission to host the successful 
inaugural 2016 Aquaculture 
Western Australia State Forum;

o	 successfully advocating for a State 
government ‘statement of intent’ to 
develop aquaculture in WA; 

o	 working with aquaculture industry groups 
and the WA Department of Fisheries to 
progress the establishment of Marine 
Aquaculture Zones in WA waters; and

o	 developing a Investing in Mid West 
Aquaculture A4 publication.

2016 Aquaculture Western Australia State Forum program
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•	 Continue to progress a Mid West Agriculture 
Development Strategy to identify priority 
interventions for growth of the region’s 
agriculture and food industries.

•	 Lobbied the senior officers’ group to 
progress the RfR Seizing the Opportunity 
in Agriculture initiative to embrace industry 
leadership of all projects from inception.

•	 Advocated for the review of infrastructure 
costs on new horticulture proponents.

•	 Assisted a number of potential investors with 
their investigations and feasibility studies for 
major strategic infrastructure projects.

•	 A Mid West Business Development Strategy 
was launched by Minister for Regional 
Development, Hon Terry Redman MLA.  
A Business Case for funding of the key 
initiatives was developed and endorsed by 
the MWDC Board.

•	 Activated ‘Progress Mid West’ to provide 
“Business Concierge” services for investors 
seeking to invest in the Mid West.

•	 Worked with the City of Greater Geraldton 
(CGG), Department of Regional 
Development (DRD) and others to 
progress the development of a Greater 
Geraldton Growth Plan.  As an initiative 
of Regional Centres Development Plan 
Stage 2, the Plan aims to drive economic 
and employment outcomes, and the long 
term prosperity of Greater Geraldton.  Key 
initiatives included:

o	 developing and signing a Memorandum 
of Understanding outlining the aims, 
objectives and governance structure;

o	 establishing a Greater Geraldton Growth 
Plan Partnership Group and a Project 
Control Group to guide the Growth Plan’s 
development;

o	 appointing a lead consultant to coordinate 
the development of the Growth Plan;

o	 developing and receiving approval for 
the Growth Plan Project Schedule and its 
related Budget;

o	 undertaking a number of consultancies 
necessary to inform the Growth Plan; and

o	 actively progressing the development of 
a Cluster Ignition Project, with a focus 
on marine services, resource industry 
services, horticulture and tourism.

•	 Worked with the Mid West Tourism 
Alliance and stakeholders to deliver key 
development priorities from the Mid West 
Tourism Development Strategy (MWTDS).  
RfR funding was secured for two of the six 
tourism ‘game changers’; namely:

o	 Mid West Coastal Nodes - $1.5 million 
from Caravan and Camping Action Plan 
TWA Stage 1 and  $1.072 million from 
the Blueprint Investment Fund; and

o	 Kalbarri Skywalk - $20.032 million from 
MWDC’s Mid West Investment Plan 
(MWIP).

Coastal node - Milligan’s Island, Green Head

Kalbarri Skywalk funding announcement2016 Aquaculture Western Australia State Forum program
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•	 MWDC also worked with stakeholders to 
progress the other four MWTDS ‘game 
changers’; namely:

o	 Sustainable Development of the 
Abrolhos Islands – worked with the 
Department of Fisheries to progress a 
business case seeking $15 million from 
the Blueprint Investment Fund;

o	 Murchison Geotourism Development - 
worked with the Shire of Mount Magnet 
and various stakeholders to pursue 
funding for the design and development 
phase;

o	 Rangelands Parks - worked with the 
Department of the Parks and Wildlife 
to progress the project, which will 
ultimately redevelop a number of disused 
conservation estates in the Mid West and 
Gascoyne for tourism purposes; and

o	 Kalbarri to Shark Bay 4WD trail - worked 
with the Shires of Northampton and 
Shark Bay to progress planning for a 
4WD track along the Zuytdorp cliffs 
from the Murchison Homestead to 
Tamala Station.

•	 Continued to deliver elements of the 
Mid West Indigenous Arts Industry Strategic 
Plan, including:

o	 working alongside Aboriginal Arts 
and Cultural Hub Western Australia 
(AACHWA) to provide assistance, 
guidance and support to local art centres 
and artists throughout the region; and

o	 strengthening the role of Aboriginal Arts 
and Cultural Hub WA (AACHWA).

•	 Supported the implementation of Australia’s 
component of the Square Kilometre 
Array (SKA) Stage 1 (jointly hosted with 
South Africa) by:

o	 providing regional input through 
membership of the SKA Regional 
Stakeholders Group;

o	 working with Horizon Power to establish 
the Murchison Radio-astronomy 
Observatory (MRO) Power Plant, 
which is funded predominantly from the 
Commission’s MWIP; and

o	 supporting the Shire of Murchison 
to complete the construction of a 
replacement Ballinyoo Bridge over 
the Murchison River.  The $5.5 million 
project is funded predominantly from the 
MWIP and other RfR programs.

Mid West 4WD enthusiast

New Ballinyoo Bridge
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•	 Coordinated the ‘Driving Mid West Regional 
Development Through Research, Innovation 
and Technology’ workshop to assist in the 
identification of opportunities to leverage 
regional development outcomes from the 
SKA and other radio astronomy projects 
at the MRO along with their related 
infrastructure.  

•	 Through membership of the Mid West 
Workforce Alliance, supported the 
completion and implementation of the 
Mid West Workforce Development Plan 
(2015‑18) launched in July 2015.  The 
Plan, which has a strong focus on youth 
engagement, developing aspirations and 
improving linkages between education, 
training and industry, aims to meet the 
region’s current and future workforce needs.

•	 Engaged health sector stakeholders in the 
development of a draft Mid West Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy to identify and address 
gaps within the existing system in line with 
the Mid West Regional Blueprint.

•	 Commissioned local social enterprise, 
Pollinators, to complete Phase 1 of 
the Mid West Innovation Agenda.  This 
involved mapping the Mid West innovation 
ecosystem, reviewing state, national and 
international policies and their relevance 
to the Mid West, and scoping out Stage 2, 
which focusses on growing the Mid West 
innovation culture.

Major Initiatives for 2016-17
•	 Continue to support the establishment 

of Progress Mid West through staff 
secondment to the Project.

•	 Continue working with stakeholders to 
secure:

o	 $15 million for the sustainable 
development of the Abrolhos Islands for 
tourism; and

o	 funding for other remaining priority 
tourism initiatives in the MWTDS.

•	 Continue working with stakeholders 
to develop a Mid West marine finfish 
aquaculture industry by:

o	 finalising the second YTK trial and assist 
industry to progress further development 
needs through the assignment of fish 
sales proceeds to worthy new projects; 

o	 assisting the local project proponent to 
host potential aquaculture investors and 
articulate the Commission’s industry 
development philosophy;  

o	 advocating State government 
agencies to develop aquaculture in 
WA with appropriate governance and 
management practices;

o	 assisting industry to progress the 
Mid West Aquaculture Development Plan 
and acquire full commercialisation;

o	 working to streamline and focus 
government services to the aquaculture 
sector across the State to ensure best 
value and adequate support is provided 
to this developing industry; and

o	 acting on local industry concerns 
regarding the planned establishment 
of Marine Aquaculture Zone in the 
Mid West.

New Ballinyoo Bridge
YTK grow-out trial
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•	 Complete and launch an Agriculture 
Development Strategy for the Mid West to 
help develop a region built on a diverse, 
innovative, profitable and productive 
agriculture and food sector that services 
local and global markets through the 
production and supply of high quality food.

•	 Finalise the development of the 
Greater Geraldton Growth Plan and 
continue its implementation focused on 
City Centre Revitalisation, traded cluster 
development and further developing 
Geraldton as a knowledge / innovation hub.

•	 As part of the implementation of the Greater 
Geraldton Growth Plan hold Investor 
Showcases in Perth and Geraldton to broker 
investors with local opportunities.

•	 Continue to support the implementation of 
the Mid West Workforce Development Plan 
(2015-18), to ensure the region’s future 
workforce needs are met.  

•	 With WA Country Health Service (WACHS), 
continue to serve as lead agency assigned 
to progress the development of the 
Geraldton Health, Education and Training 
Accommodation Project (GHETAP).

•	 Work with the Department of Education 
and key regional stakeholders to oversee 
the development of a Mid West Education 
and Training Strategy that helps define the 
issues and challenges facing the sector 
and provides strategies and actions for 
future change.

•	 Work with the Department of Agriculture 
and Food, Department of Environment 
Regulation and pastoralists to enhance 
the profitability of pastoralism in the 
Southern Rangelands.

•	 In partnership with subregional local 
government groupings, work to secure 
resources to progress priority initiatives 
from subregional economic development 
strategies, focusing on those opportunities 
with the greatest potential that also align 
with State planning priorities.

•	 Continue to work with the Aboriginal Art 
Centre Hub WA (AACHWA) to support the 
sustainability of the region’s Aboriginal art 
centres and to further develop the industry.

•	 Assist the further development of the MRO 
and Australia’s SKA Stage 1 by:
o	 supporting the Shire of Murchison to 

secure funding to extend the single lane 
seal of the southern approach to the 
Ballinyoo Bridge, thereby enhancing 
road safety and extending the sealed 
route to the MRO.

o	 working with Horizon Power to complete 
the construction of the MRO Power Plant 
and ensure integration with CSIRO’s 
2.0 MW solar PV facility.  

o	 providing local feedback and advice 
to the Office of Science and through 
the SKA Regional Stakeholders Group 
on a variety of matters as required 
eg procurement.

•	 Continue to capture regional outcomes from 
the SKA and MRO by:
o	 identifying and progressing economic 

and community development initiatives 
that can leverage off the establishment of 
the SKA, other radio astronomy projects 
and their associated infrastructure; and

o	 working with the Mid West Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry to ensure local 
businesses are well informed of any 
potential opportunities to supply goods 
or services to radio astronomy projects 
at the MRO, and their capability is 
communicated to the project proponents.

MRO power plant
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•	 Finalise the Mid West Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and take steps to progress the 
region’s highest priority health initiatives, 
including the preparation of a Mid West 
Health Infrastructure Master Plan.

•	 Work with Non-Government Organisations 
(NGOs) and Not for Profits (NFPs) to 
strategically plan for the inevitable changes 
facing the sector as a result of major 
budgetary constraints and a challenging 
service delivery environment.  Assist with an 
assessment of NGO / NFP organisational 
capacities and capabilities and explore where 
partnerships would enhance service delivery.

•	 Work alongside and facilitate Aboriginal 
leadership via the Mid West Aboriginal 
Organisations Alliance.

•	 Work with Bundiyarra to create cultural 
tourism and trails developments across 
the region.

•	 Work with Bush Heritage Australia, 
Rangelands NRM (Natural Resource 
Management), Northern Agricultural 
Catchments Council, Department of Parks 
and Wildlife, Central Regional TAFE and 
Yamatji Marlpa Aboriginal Corporation to 
pursue opportunities for Badimaya people 
in Mount Magnet, Yalgoo, Paynes Find 
and surrounds to achieve cultural and 
environmental outcomes in the Southern 
Rangelands.  There is potential to work in 
partnership with Central Desert Native Title 
Service in Wiluna to mentor and assist with 
training on Badimaya country and across 
the entire Murchison Gascoyne Southern 
Rangelands areas.

•	 Partner Pollinators to complete Phase 2 
of the Mid West Innovation Strategy which 
focusses on growing the Mid West culture of 
innovation, and developing a Business Case 
to secure funding for Phase 3, which aims 
to further develop and grow the Mid West’s 
innovation ecosystem.

Service 3: Infrastructure and 
Services Development in the 
Mid West
To facilitate the development of infrastructure 
and services based on long-term economic 
development strategies to support communities 
and businesses in the Mid West.

AGENCY ACTIVITIES

•	 Continue to support the Regional 
Development Portfolio to implement a 
nine point Action Plan under the Regional 
Development reform process which includes 
developing five initial High Impact Programs 
for initial strategic delivery.

•	 Following an extensive period of 
development, consultation, public comment 
and review, finalised the Mid West Regional 
Blueprint.  The Blueprint sets an aspirational 
growth and development vision for the region 
to 2050 and was launched by the Minister 
for Regional Development in August 2015.  
The Blueprint was subsequently noted 
by the Western Australian Planning 
Commission in October 2015.  Throughout 
2015-16 the Commission worked with a 
range of stakeholders to progress various 
development strategies and projects that 
align with the Blueprint and support delivery 
of its intended strategic outcomes.

•	 Following an organisational and operational 
review of the Commission, the Blueprint was 
adopted as the new MWDC Strategic Plan 
to guide future organisational objectives and 
operations.

Mid West Regional Blueprint cover
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•	 Continued development of a bespoke 
Multi Criteria Analysis (MCA) tool to consider 
project concepts and help identify those with 
the greatest potential and ability to deliver 
regional development outcomes that align 
with the Blueprint.

•	 Outsourced independent analysis of key 
project proposals (eg the Kalbarri Skywalk, 
Murchison geotourism, coastal nodes, 
GHETAP, business development strategy 
initiatives) to help better understand their 
economic potential and support the case for 
public funding.

•	 Worked with DRD and other Regional 
Development Commissions to assess 133 
priority projects from across regional WA as 
part of the Statewide Pipeline Prioritisation 
process.  A Prioritisation Tool was developed 
to enable assessment of these projects 
against the aims of the draft Regional 
Development Strategy.  This resulted in 
around 40 being prioritised and submitted to 
the Minister for Regional Development for 
consideration in the 2016-17 budget process, 
including eight projects from the Mid West.

•	 Continued to implement the Commission’s 
MWIP, which was allocated $220 million from 
RfR over nine years (to 2019-20) to address 
the region’s infrastructure priorities.  To date 
the MWIP has provided $125.9 million to 37 
projects with a construction value totaling 
$229 million.  Key MWIP outcomes in 2015 
16 included:

o	 announcement of MWIP funding totaling 
$43.75 million for six projects; and

o	 the assessment and recommendation 
for funding of additional projects with 
a total project value of $15 million 
(MWIP funding of $12 million).  
Approval of MWIP funding for these 
projects will be sought in 2016-17.

(Please refer to the tables at the end of this 
Report on Operations section for full details of 
2015-16 MWIP allocations).

•	 Progress on specific MWIP projects included 
working with:

o	 the Shire of Chapman Valley to complete 
the Yuna Community Centre and East 
Bowes road sealing;

o	 Main Roads WA to progress the Dongara 
– Northampton Strategic Corridor 
Planning Study;

o	 Main Roads WA and the Shires of 
Meekatharra and Wiluna to develop plans 
for completing the sealing of Goldfields 
Highway (National Highway #1);

o	 the Shire of Murchison to progress 
the replacement of Ballinyoo Bridge 
and its southern approach over the 
Murchison River;

o	 the CGG and other stakeholders to 
support LandCorp’s site investigations 
and planning for Stage 2 of the Batavia 
Coast Marina redevelopment;

o	 the CGG, Mid West Ports Authority and 
Department of Transport to progress the 
Beresford Foreshore protection works 
business case;

o	 Foodbank WA to progress the 
construction of the new Foodbank 
Geraldton premises;

o	 the Department Parks and Wildlife to 
progress the Kalbarri National Park 
Skywalk and improved park access to 
key features;

o	 the Shire of Northampton to progress the 
construction of the Horrocks Community 
Centre;

Beresford Foreshore funding announcement
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o	 the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development to progress 
the Central Regional TAFE Geraldton 
Interactive Student Hub;

o	 the Catholic Diocese of Geraldton to 
progress the Monsignor Hawes Heritage 
Centre project;

o	 the Geraldton Cemetery Board to 
implement capital works upgrades 
including condolence lounge and 
crematory;

o	 the Department Health to progress 
the Murchison Health business 
case for improved health facilities in 
Mount Magnet and Meekatharra; and

o	 the CGG to complete the Wonthella Oval 
lighting project.

•	 Administered the Commission’s Agency 
Working Group and Mid West Strategic 
Infrastructure Group (MWSIG).  These 
groups function to collaboratively resolve 
infrastructure bottlenecks and provide a 
forum for agencies to share information 
on major projects in the region.  Through 
these groups the Commission assisted the 
development of strategic infrastructure by:

o	 highlighting the constraints in the region’s 
exporting facilities; 

o	 working with Main Roads WA to progress 
the Dongara – Northampton Strategic 
Corridor Planning Study;

o	 working with potential investors to build 
the case for the northern section of 
the Mid West Energy project and the 
augmentation of the Geraldton Port;

o	 lobbying for the acquisition of land for the 
Oakajee-Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor 
(ONIC); and

o	 facilitating industry initiatives to develop 
the region’s supply chain infrastructure.

•	 Worked with Centacare, who are the 
managers of the Bidi Bidi Early Childhood 
Development and Parenting Centre in 
Mount Magnet, to address the Murchison’s 
relatively poor Australian Early Development 
Census (AEDC) results.  Support agencies 
and NGO’s dealing directly with early 
childhood vulnerability to monitor and 
improve AEDC results across the region.

•	 Worked with the Western Australian Museum 
to complete the development of a business 
case to secure funding for the Geraldton 
Museum redevelopment project.  Apart from 
developing a more functional design and 
renewing old exhibits, the project will enable a 
world class interactive / immersive experience 
of the HMAS Sydney II / Kormoran battle, the 
SKA, Abrolhos Islands and the Wilgie Mia 
ochre mine - the oldest in the world.  The 
project is a key component of the Geraldton 
Growth Plan and City Centre Revitalisation. 

St Francis Xavier Cathedral, from the courtyard of the new 
Monsignor Hawes Heritage Centre

Wonthella Oval lighting installation
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•	 Worked with WACHS to review options 
(including site and ownership) to progress 
the development of the Geraldton Health, 
Education and Training Accommodation 
Project (GHETAP) to provide much needed, 
affordable accommodation for students and 
those on short term practice.

•	 Worked with the developer of land sold 
as part of Stage 1 of the Batavia Coast 
Marina redevelopment on issues related 
to the proposed new developments, 
including a hotel, tavern and ‘off property’ 
improvements.

•	 Worked with a Project Steering Group to 
progress the Mid West Academy of Sport 
(MWAS), which develops talented sub elite 
athletes, coaches and officials from within 
their home environment.  The MWAS has 
processes and resources in place to enable 
operations and service delivery until the end 
of 2016, making future funding security a 
priority for the current year.

•	 Supported the Geraldton Universities Centre 
(GUC) to establish a universities hub in 
Carnarvon and to undertake a Feasibility 
Study into establishing a universities centre 
in the Pilbara.  By pooling together students 
from these other communities, GUC will be 
able to offer an enhanced range of courses 
for students in all communities.

•	 Supported Western Power to progress fringe 
of grid initiatives in Perenjori and Kalbarri.

•	 Developed a draft Mid West Energy Strategy 
to address the region’s current and future 
power needs.

•	 Developed a draft Mid West Digital and 
Communications Strategy to identify 
broadband infrastructure and services 
requirements in the Mid West.  Aligned 
with the Mid West Regional Blueprint, the 
draft Strategy also explores options to 
most effectively deliver infrastructure to 
complement the scheduled rollout of the 
National Broadband Network (nbn).

•	 As part of the Regional Telecommunication 
Project and Mobile Black Spots Program 
Round 2, provided input and analysis of 
mobile black spots candidate locations for 
the Mid West.  

•	 Along with local governments, successfully 
lobbied Federal Government to complete 
the nbn Fibre to the Premise rollout to all 
urbanised areas of Geraldton, due for full 
completion by end of calendar year 2016.

•	 Worked with Mid West Local Governments 
to develop and agree supplemental 
infrastructure plans to build upon nbn offerings 
in regional towns and neighbouring properties.

Major Initiatives for 2015-16

•	 With the Blueprint launched in August 2015, 
review progress of the new MWDC Strategic 
Plan against the delivery of Mid West 
Regional Blueprint outcomes.

•	 With DRD and other Commissions, continue 
to participate in any ‘cross portfolio’ efforts to 
assess priority regional projects for possible 
consideration in the 2017-18 budget process.

•	 Support the WA Regional Development 
Reform Agenda, including implementation 
of the new WA State Regional Development 
Strategy.

•	 Continue to progress ‘Flagship’ and other 
high priority projects identified in the MWIP.

•	 Complete and implement the MCA as a 
tool to help direct Commission resources to 
projects with the greatest potential to deliver 
Blueprint outcomes.

Batavia Coast Marina Stage 1
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•	 Continue to have independent analyses 
undertaken for priority project proposals to 
determine their projected economic impacts 
and support business case development.

•	 With the support of the MWSIG, progress 
priority infrastructure projects of the Mid West 
Regional Blueprint by working with:

o	 the CGG to develop a business case 
for Royalties for Regions funding for the 
renewal of the pavement of the Geraldton 
Regional Airport;

o	 the Departments of Regional Development 
and Transport and other stakeholders 
to complete a Regional Airports Study 
that will identify opportunities to leverage 
regional airports to attract further 
investment in the regions;

o	 key government stakeholders to progress 
the acquisition of land for the Oakajee 
Narngulu Infrastructure Corridor (ONIC) 
that forms part of the Geraldton Heavy 
Freight Bypass;

o	 Main Roads and other key government 
stakeholders to progress the 
Dongara‑Northampton Strategic Corridor, 
which will provide a heavy freight bypass 
around the regional centres of Dongara, 
Geraldton and Northampton;

o	 the Department of Water and Water 
Corporation to launch and progress water 
development initiatives identified in the 
Mid West Water for Growth document;

o	 the Department of Transport to develop 
a Mid West Transport Development 
Strategy, which will identify key transport 
infrastructure projects required to achieve 
the growth strategies contained in the 
Mid West Regional Blueprint;

o	 Main Roads and the Shire of 
Meekatharra and Wiluna to commence 
the upgrade of the Goldfields Highway 
from Meekatharra to Wiluna, which 
provides strategic connectivity between 
the Goldfields-Esperance, Mid West and 
Pilbara regions; and

o	 the Wheatbelt Development Commission 
and other key stakeholders to complete 
the WA Lime Sand Routes Strategy, 
which identifies the priorities for road 
infrastructure upgrades to support the 
agricultural sector.

•	 Continue to work through the Commission’s 
MWSIG to collaboratively resolve 
infrastructure bottlenecks and provide a 
forum for agencies to share information on 
major projects in the region.   

•	 Continue to support the GUC in its 
endeavours to consolidate existing courses, 
attract more school leavers (including 
Aboriginal students) and expand the range 
of courses offered in response to community 
and industry needs. 

•	 Support GUC to complete a Feasibility 
Study into establishing a universities centre 
in the Pilbara and to progress the initiative 
should the Study be positive and the Pilbara 
community is committed to it.

•	 Continue to work with WACHS and 
the GHETAP Steering Committee to 
progress the development of the proposed 
accommodation facility by:

o	 securing a suitable organisation to 
develop, own and operate the facility;

o	 securing a suitable site; and

o	 preparing a business case to secure 
funding to construct the facility.

•	 Continue to support the MWAS during its 
‘operate / consolidate’ phase, with a focus on 
delivering services to athletes, coaches and 
officials and securing resources necessary 
to continue and expand operations.

Geraldton Universities Centre Stage 2
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•	 Continue to support Centacare as 
required with the Bidi Bidi Early Childhood 
Development and Parenting Centre in 
Mount Magnet.

•	 Continue to work with proponents to 
progress the proposed hotel and other 
developments on land sold as part of 
Stage 1 of the Batavia Coast Marina 
redevelopment.

•	 Continue to work with LandCorp, CGG and 
other stakeholders to finalise the detailed 
planning for Stage 2 of the Batavia Coast 
Marina redevelopment and commence the 
development, which includes MWIP funded 
environmental remediation works.

•	 Continue to advocate for the WA Museum 
Geraldton project to secure funding for the 
planning, construction and fit-out of the 
proposed Museum redevelopment.

•	 Finalise the Mid West Energy Development 
Strategy, including identification of 
key transformational projects such as 
the completion of a 330kv line from 
Three Springs to Geraldton, and the 
establishment of fringe of grid power 
solutions for Kalbarri and Perenjori.

•	 Finalise the Mid West Digital and 
Communications Strategy, which will 
provide a pathway for the rollout of digital 
and communications initiatives in alignment 
with the Mid West Regional Blueprint. The 
Strategy contains six key initiatives designed 
to deliver transformational outcomes in 
infrastructure, world-class connectivity, 
education, industry competitiveness, social 
enterprise, local creativity, local content and 
regional tourism.

•	 Work closely with industry and local 
governments in the Mid West and other 
regions of Western Australia to roll out key 
initiatives of the Digital and Communications 
Strategy, with a focus on digital equity 
(both infrastructure and education); smart 
agriculture, vibrant communities, industry 
competitiveness, tourism, renewable energy 
and local content creation.

•	 Continue to assist industry players 
(infrastructure and service providers) 
and Local Governments in the delivery of 
cooperatively-owned regional Fixed Wireless 
and optical fibre networks throughout the 
Mid West, providing cost-effective, long-term 
services to supplement the services of the 
nbn SkyMuster satellite.

•	 Assist regional communities with 
infrastructure upgrades to communications 
services such as Digital TV and Radio 
re‑transmission facilities.

Mid West Digital Economy Strategy cover

Bidi Bidi family, Mount Magnet
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Royalties for Regions Mid West Investment Plan

The Commission supported six projects for funding from its Mid West Investment Plan (MWIP) 
during 2015-16.  The following projects shared $43.75 million in funding.

Mid West Investment Plan - funded projects for 2014-15

Organisation Project Name Funding (ex GST)

Geraldton Cemetery Board
Capital works upgrade - new condolence lounge, 
cremator extension and inclusion of an additional 
larger new cremator

$1,362,000

City Greater Geraldton Beresford Foreshore Coastal Protection and 
Enhancement Project $11,757,415

Shire of Meekatharra Meekatharra Carnarvon Route Sections Upgrade 
and Seal $3,000,000

Department Parks and Wildlife Kalbarri Skywalk and  
National Park Infrastructure Project $20,032,640

Department of Training and 
Workforce Development Interactive Student Hub $2,000,000 

Western Australian 
Land Authority - Landcorp Purchase Lot 601 Marine Terrace Geraldton $5,600,000

6 PROJECTS TOTAL $43,752,055

Royalties for Regions Mid West Regional Grant Scheme

Round 6 of the Mid West Regional Grant Scheme (RGS) was opened on 11 January 2016 with 
applications closing on 17 March 2016.

The Commission supported nine projects for funding from the RGS totaling $1.56 million during 
2015-16.   These projects were not formally endorsed until September 2016 so will be reported on 
in the 2016-17 MWDC Annual Report.
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Royalties for Regions Mid West Community Chest Fund

The Commission allocated $257,720 from the Mid West Community Chest Fund (CCF) to the 
following 16 worthwhile projects during 2015-16.

Mid West Community Chest Fund - funded projects for 2014-15

Organisation Project Name Funding (ex GST)

Shire of Coorow Emergency Capability Additions $21,700

Shire of Mount Magnet Astro Rocks Fest 2016 $3,600

John Willcock College and  
Geraldton Senior College 
P&C Association Inc 
(auspice Mount Tarcoola 
Neuroscience and Education Group)

Neurology and Education Professional 
Learning Workshops $18,000

Shire of Meekatharra Meeka Rangelands Discovery Trail Upgrade $20,000

St John Ambulance WA St John Ambulance Meekatharra  
Hot Water System $2,600

Mullewa District Agricultural Society Mullewa Agricultural Show $10,120

Mount Magnet Historical Society Hill 50 Winder Installation $18,000

Shire of Meekatharra Community Genset $10,000

Shire of Mingenew Mingenew Transfer Station $50,000

Meekatharra Rangelands  
Biosecurity Association Murchison Pastoral Support $12,000

Geraldton Volunteer Marine Rescue 
Group Radio over the Internet Protocol $5,000

City of Greater Geraldton Greater Geraldton Rural Art Tour $14,500

Irwin Polocrosse Club Irwin Polocrosse Facility Upgrade $14,500

Spalding Park Golf Club Street Hydrant $30,000

Kalbarri Development Association Kalbarri Zest Festival $23,000

Drylands Foundation Carob Tree Propagation Trials $4,700

16 PROJECTS TOTAL $257,720



MWDC Annual Report 2015-16  │  29    

Actual results versus budget targets

Financial Targets

2015-16

Target 
$000

2015-16 

Actual 
$000

Variation

 
$000

Total cost of services (expense limit)  
(sourced from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

5,071 5,050 (21)

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income)

5,070 4,990 (80)

Total equity 
(sourced from Statement of 
Financial Position)

2,101 2,690 589

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) (1,532) (1,282) 250

Approved salary expense level 1,821 1,915 94

The variance in total equity mainly reflects the carryover of RfR funding to 2016‑17, this has been 
partially offset with a decrease in land valuation.

The variance in cash held largely reflects carryover RfR grant funding, which includes funding for 
Yellow Tail Kingfish Trial #2 and MWIP.

The Mid Year Review process resulted in our approved salary expense level being increased from 
target ($1.821million to $1.917 million).  The increase in approved salary expense level was due to 
RfR staffing costs associated with supporting the RGS and CCF, this combined with unbudgeted 
district allowance costs.

For explanation on Income Statement variances, refer to Note 28 of the Financial Statements on 
page 59 of this report.

Financial Targets

Target 
$000

Actual 
$000

Variance 
$000

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 251 251 N/A

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 247 14 233

The variance primarily reflects the timing of payments for RfR grant funding, which varies due to 
the specific needs of each project.
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators

The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the 
achievement of desired outcomes.  The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between 
the services delivered and the resources used to produce the service.

Target Actual Variance

Outcome: An environment conducive 
to the balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West region

Key Effectiveness Indicators:

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission reduced obstacles 
to economic growth and 
employment

42% 44% 2%

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to the 
development of a new business 
opportunity

63% 57% (6%)

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to more 
trade activity

30% 28% (2%)

•	 Clients agreeing that the 
Commission contributed to the 
retention of staff and/or expansion 
of employment opportunities

28% 30% 2%

Service 1: Information and Advice

Key Efficiency Indicators:

Cost per client visit
Cost per client inquiry

$524
$102

$421
$84

($103)
($18)

Service 2: Investment Facilitation

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project $104,840 $101,008 ($3,832)

Service 3: Infrastructure and Services 
Development in the Mid West

Key Efficiency Indicator:

Average cost per project

 

$62,533

 

$56,211

 

($6,322)
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Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are 
measured through an annual client perceptions 
survey, conducted by independent market 
research company.  Surveys were sent to 260 
clients that had contact with the Commission 
during 2015-16, with 179 completed surveys 
returned (response rate of 69%).

To support the balanced economic and social 
development of the region the Commission 
works to help reduce obstacles to growth; 
develop new business opportunities; increase 
trade activity; and retain staff / expand 
employment opportunities.  Accordingly, clients 
were asked questions regarding business 
development outcomes that were facilitated by 
contact with the Commission.

Key Efficiency Indicators

Total costs for all service areas are below 
target.  This is mainly due to the timing of 
project expenditure, resulting in a decrease in 
average cost per project for Services 2 and 3.

The total number of client visits for Service 
1 was significantly above target.  This was 
due mainly to extensive consultation relating 
to the Mid West Regional Blueprint including 
its finalisation, strategy development and 
implementation.  The Mid West Investment Plan 
and Mid West Regional Grants Scheme were 
among other significant contributors.  

For further explanation on variances, please 
refer to page 70 of this report.  Please note that 
within the audited Key Performance Indicators, 
target and actual total costs and unit costs have 
been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies 
Expense.
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SIGNIFICANT ISSUES  
IMPACTING THE AGENCY
The Commission’s operations are influenced 
by major current and future opportunities and 
challenges in the region.  These include the 
following.

•	 MWDC’s Mid West Investment Plan, which 
was supported by $220 million of Royalties 
for Regions funding in 2011, will continue 
to leverage public and private investment in 
priority infrastructure for the region.

•	 A regional growth and development 
strategy known as a “Regional Blueprint” 
has been developed by the relevant 
Regional Development Commissions for 
implementation in each region of the State. 
The Regional Blueprints are based on an 
aspirational vision led approach and holistic 
and integrated strategic planning. The 
purpose of the Regional Blueprint is to help 
transform each region from its current status 
and position it to attain sustainable growth 
and development goals.

•	 The Blueprint is based on five pillars and 
22 elements (sub pillars) considered 
vital to growth and development in the 
Mid West.  Each of these areas required 
further work to determine the priorities and 
key actions going forward.  In 2015‑16 
strategies for business development, 
agriculture, health, water, digital technology 
and communications, energy and strategic 
infrastructure were progressed or completed.

•	 The Blueprint’s implementation will be 
significantly assisted by the development 
of a Greater Geraldton Growth Plan, 
a Regional Development Centre Plan 
Phase  2 initiative.  The Growth Plan is 
being developed by a partnership including 
the Mid West Development Commission, 
City of Greater Geraldton, Department of 
Regional Development, other key agencies 
and industry.

•	 The Mid West economy is heavily reliant 
on primary commodity exports, exposing 
it to market fluctuations and climate 
change impacts. Initiatives to diversify 
the region’s economic base include 
progressing information technology related 
opportunities; realising the region’s vast 
renewable energy potential; supporting 
marine based aquaculture research and 
development; and realising the region’s 
tourism potential.

•	 The Mid West has a relatively high 
Indigenous population, which drives 
the need for initiatives that will support 
Indigenous employment, education and 
business outcomes. 

•	 Around 83% of the region is classified as 
remote, which presents challenges to provide 
and maintain infrastructure and services.

•	 The Commission continues to strive for 
education outcomes, rural and remote 
service delivery and developing thriving 
local and sub regional economies and 
communities.  As implementation of the 
Mid West Regional Blueprint occurs, the 
emphasis will focus around identifying those 
key ‘game changing’ initiatives that deliver 
the best economic and social outcomes for 
the region.
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DISCLOSURES AND 
LEGAL COMPLIANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

The accompanying financial statements of the Mid West Development Commission have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2015 and the financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

JACINTA POTTS						      GAVIN TREASURE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
13 September 2016					     13 September 2016

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE					   
CHAIRMAN
13 September 2016
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2016 2015
COST OF SERVICES $ $
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 2,218,827 2,053,989
Supplies and services 7 773,077 662,178
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 77,224 68,234
Accommodation expenses 9 223,969 217,599
Grants and subsidies 10 1,692,146 918,180
Other expenses 11 64,394 40,088
Total cost of services 5,049,637 3,960,268

Income
Revenue
Other revenue 12 59,892 10,021
Total Revenue 59,892 10,021
Total income other than income from State Government 59,892 10,021
NET COST OF SERVICES 4,989,745 3,950,247

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 13 238,000 234,000
Resources received free of charge 13 9,302 8,838
Royalties for Regions Fund 13 3,354,704 3,676,761
Total income from State Government 3,602,006 3,919,599
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD (1,387,739) (30,648)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 24 (272,727) 272,727
Total other comprehensive income (272,727) 272,727
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (1,660,466) 242,079

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’. 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2016

Note 2016 2015
ASSETS $ $
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 25 14,009 125,412
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 14, 25 1,239,305 2,409,919
Receivables 15 38,800 89,150
Total Current Assets 1,292,114 2,624,481

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 16 153,000 153,000
Property, plant and equipment 17 2,818,857 3,164,214
Intangible assets 19 20,984 11,196
Total Non-Current Assets 2,992,841 3,328,410
TOTAL ASSETS 4,284,955 5,952,891

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 21 70,771 160,519
Provisions 23 463,933 426,811
Total Current Liabilities 534,704 587,330

Non-Current Liabilities
Amounts due to the Treasurer 22 960,000 960,000
Provisions 23 100,115 54,959
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,060,115 1,014,959

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,594,819 1,602,289
NET ASSETS 2,690,136 4,350,602

EQUITY
Contributed equity 24 355,946 355,946
Reserves 24 1,745,489 2,018,216
Accumulated surplus 24 588,701 1,976,440
TOTAL EQUITY 2,690,136 4,350,602

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note
Contributed 

equity Reserves
Accumulated 

surplus
Total 

equity
$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2014 24 355,946 1,745,489 2,007,088 4,108,523
Deficit  -  - (30,648) (30,648)
Other comprehensive income  - 272,727  - 272,727
Total comprehensive income for the period  - 272,727 (30,648) 242,079

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
     Capital appropriations - - - -
     Other contributions by owners - - - -
     Distributions to owners - - - -
Total - - - -
Balance at 30 June 2015 355,946  2,018,216 1,976,440 4,350,602

Balance at 1 July 2015 355,946 2,018,216 1,976,440 4,350,602
Deficit  -  - (1,387,739) (1,387,739)
Other comprehensive income  - (272,727)  - (272,727)
Total comprehensive income for the period  - (272,727) (1,387,739) (1,660,466)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
     Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 
     Other contributions by owners  -  -  -  - 
     Distributions to owners  -  -  -  - 
Total  -  -  -  - 
Balance at 30 June 2016 355,946  1,745,489 588,701 2,690,136

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2016 2015
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  238,000 234,000
Royalties for Regions Fund  3,354,704 3,676,761
Net cash provided by State Government  3,592,704 3,910,761

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits  (2,217,290) (1,971,193)
Supplies and services  (773,454) (661,452)
Accommodation (237,864) (219,100)
GST payments on purchases (260,562) (179,035)
GST payments to taxation authority (8,173) (2,360)
Grants and subsidies (1,692,146) (918,180)
Other payments (49,830) (45,188)

Receipts
GST receipts on sales  8,033 1,568
GST receipts from taxation authority  285,426 129,895
Other receipts  85,521 9,449
Net cash used in operating activities 25 (4,860,339) (3,855,596)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (14,382) (38,743)
Net cash used in investing activities (14,382) (38,743)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,282,017) 16,422
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  2,535,331 2,518,909

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 25  1,253,314 2,535,331

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Commission has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption of 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Commission for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement
The Commission is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation 
of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of 
that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
except for land which has been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout 
all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made 
in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Mid West Development Commission.  The Mid West Development Commission was 
established under the Regional Development Commissions Act (1993) on April 8, 1994.  The Act also repealed the 
Geraldton Mid West Development Authority Act (1988) and determined that all assets and liabilities would transfer to the 
Mid West Development Commission from that date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners 
by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non‑reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Commission gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions 
of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Commission obtains 
control over the funds.  The Commission obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Commission’s bank account.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets 
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and historical 
cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land is carried at fair value less accumulated impairment losses.  All other 
items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land is determined on the basis of current market buying 
values determined by reference to recent market transactions.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land is determined on the basis of existing use.  This normally 
applies where land use is restricted.  Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market 
evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted 
land (low restricted use land). 

Land is independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end 
of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis 
to assets and in determining estimated useful life.  Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Refer to note 17 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset 
is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of land as described in 
Note 17 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Furniture & Fittings	 10 to 15 years
Office Equipment		 5 years
Computer Hardware	 3 to 5 years
Software (a)		  3 to 5 years
(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

Land is not depreciated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Intangible assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life.  Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful  life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All intangible assets controlled by the 
Commission have a finite useful life and zero residual value.  

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software (a)		  3 to 5 years
Web site costs		  3 to 5 years
(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment.  Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 
is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Web site costs
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an 
asset when they may be capitalised and amortised.  Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning 
phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.  Costs incurred in 
building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and written down to the recoverable amount 
and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified 
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation / amortisation reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no 
risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Refer to note 20 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leases
The Commission holds operating leases for motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over 
the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument:

•	 Loans and receivables
•	 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
•	 Cash and cash equivalents
•	 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
•	 Receivables
•	 Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
•	 Payables
•	 Amounts due to the Treasurer

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction 
cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 21 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year.  
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Commission considers the carrying amount 
of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Commission receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable).  The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover 
leave entitlements and asset replacement.  Refer to note 13 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 16 ’Amounts 
receivable for services’.

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written 
off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Commission will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value 
as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  Refer also to note 2(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 15 ‘Receivables’.

(o) Payables
Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of 
assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.  Refer to 
note 2(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 21 ‘Payables’.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Amounts due to the Treasurer
Initial recognition and measurement, and subsequent measurement, is at the amount repayable.  Although there is 
no interest charged, the amount repayable is equivalent to fair value as the period of the borrowing is for less than 
12 months with the effect of discounting not being material.  Refer to note 22 ‘Amounts due to the Treasurer’.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period.  Refer to note 23 ‘Provisions’.

Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’.  The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Commission does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Pre‑conditional  and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the 
Commission has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period.  Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years 
of service.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self‑fund up 
to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year.  The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees 
and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements.  Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation 
dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 
1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members 
since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS become non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider.  The Commission makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions 
to these accumulation schemes extinguish the Commissions liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees 
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting.  However, it is 
a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by 
the Commission to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are 
assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission 
to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer 
for the employer’s share.

Provisions - Other

Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on‑costs 
are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

(r) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the 
GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, the GESBS and other superannuation funds.

(s) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the Commission would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured.  
A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from 
State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

No judgements have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date do not 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Commissions long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  Changes in these 
estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

(a) Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the Commission.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – conceptual framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments

Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB9 to 1 January 2017.  The application date 
of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1.  The Commission has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – 
Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) 
and AASB  9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB  9 
Financial  Instruments  in December 2014.  The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn.  There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]

This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated 
with various disclosures required to AASB 13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 that are 
held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows.  
It has no financial impact.

(b) Voluntary changes in accounting policy

There have been no changes in accounting policy during the financial year.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Commission has not applied 
early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Commission.  
Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these Standards and Interpretations from their application date:

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning 
on / after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 
after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014‑1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  The Commission has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This Standard establishes the principles that the Commission shall apply to 
report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract 
with a customer. The Commission has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a 
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  The Commission has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard 
(and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2010 - 7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 
136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.  
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 
2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.  The Commission has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-1	 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Commission 
to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for 

reporting periods 
beginning 
on / after

AASB 2014-3	 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions 
of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

The Commission establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and 
does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations.  Therefore, there is no 
financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4	
	

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Commission 
as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue 
generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of 
AASB 15.  The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended 
by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018.  The Commission has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2014)

This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9 (December 2014).  The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-9	
 
	

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB  1 
and AASB  128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate 
financial statements.  The Commission has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128] 

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency 
between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture.  The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for 

reporting periods 
beginning 
on / after

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 101.  Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing 
presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to 
use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to 
disclose in their financial statements.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by 
not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included 
to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
The Commission has not yet determined the application of the Standard, though 
there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016 

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to 
be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2017.  The Commission has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of 
amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014‑10 
so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016.  The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
AASB 2014-10.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 107

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to 
require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes 
in liabilities arising from financial activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

(c) Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
Operative for 

reporting periods 
beginning 
on / after

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15

This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus 
agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, 
and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15.  The Commission has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2017

(d)	 Changes in accounting estimates
There have been no changes in accounting estimates during the financial year.

Note 6. Employee benefits expense 2016 2015
$ $

Wages and salaries (a) 1,915,313 1,787,873
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 202,400 194,848
Other related expenses 101,114 71,268

2,218,827 2,053,989

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b)  Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at Note 11 ‘Other Expenses’.  

Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 23 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7. Supplies and Services 2016 2015
$ $

Board fees 93,162 100,044
Communications 20,713 20,036
Consultants and contractors 456,889 306,548
Consumables 35,773 55,085
Equipment repairs and maintenance 15,670 18,021
Labour hire 7,111 9,060
Operating leases - vehicles 16,996 13,711
Travel 68,273 71,501
Other 58,490 68,172

773,077 662,178
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Note 10. Grants and subsidies 2016 2015
$ $

Recurrent
Regional Development Scheme (a) - 9,369
Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits Fund 100,000 -
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Grant Scheme 1,592,146 908,811

1,692,146 918,180
(a) Includes the reallocation to new recipients of funds granted in earlier rounds of the Regional Development Scheme (RDS), which were either not utilised at all or 
exceeded the actual requirements of the original recipients.  These funds were returned to the RDS funding pool and allocated to or available for allocation to new projects.

Note 11. Other expenses 2016 2015
$ $

Audit fees 50,567 30,167
Employment on-costs (a) 10,995 7,089
Other expenses (b) 2,832 2,832

64,394 40,088
(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability 
is included at note 23 ‘Provisions’.  Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Note 12. Other revenue 2016 2015
$ $

Horizon Power Community Benefit Fund 50,000 -
Other revenue 9,892 10,021

59,892 10,021

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense 2016 2015
$ $

Depreciation
Office equipment 3,013 3,013
Communications - -
Computer hardware 8,714 2,914
Furniture, fixtures and fittings 60,903 60,903
Total depreciation 72,630 66,830

Amortisation
Intangible assets 4,594 1,404
Total amortisation 4,594 1,404
Total depreciation and amortisation 77,224 68,234

Note 9. Accommodation expenses 2016 2015
$ $

Building rental operating lease expense 196,945 187,920
Electricity 13,551 15,606
Cleaning 13,473 14,073

223,969 217,599
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Note 13. Income from State Government 2016 2015
$ $

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 238,000 234,000

238,000 234,000
Services received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Department of Finance 9,302 8,838

9,302 8,838
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account (c) 562,440 750,000
Regional Community Services Account (c) 869,264 1,058,761
Regional and Statewide Initiative (a) 1,923,000 1,868,000

3,354,704 3,676,761
3,602,006 3,919,599

(a)  Service appropriations and Royalties for Regions fund the net cost of services delivered.  

(b)  Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and 
which would have been purchased if they were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

(c)  This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’.  The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

Note 14. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2016 2015
$ $

Batavia Coast Marina Redevelopment 475,271 502,271
Gascoyne Murchison Outback Pathways Project 1,435 1,435
Geraldton Foreshore Redevelopment 263 13,263
Mid West Development Commission - Capital - 6,892
Midwest Digital Economy Strategy 10,264 22,500
Midwest Science Forum 217 638
Murchison IT Training & Support Project - 20,000
Pacific Flora 2004 3,091 3,091
Regional Development Scheme - 2,000
Regional and Remote Renewable Energy Power Solutions Community Benefits Fund 153,674 250,000
Royalties for Regions Fund 579,477 1,573,216
Treasury 3,000 2,000
Yellow Tail Kingfish Grow-out Trial 12,613 12,613

1,239,305 2,409,919

Note 15. Receivables 2016 2015
$ $

Current
GST receivable 38,800 63,521
Receivables - 25,629
Total Current 38,800 89,150

Note 16. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 2016 2015
$ $

Current - -
Non-current 153,000 153,000

153,000 153,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.
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Note 17. Property, plant & equipment 2016 2015
$ $

Office equipment
At cost 15,064 15,064
Accumulated depreciation (12,051) (9,038)

3,013 6,026
Communications
At cost 10,287 10,287
Accumulated depreciation (10,287) (10,287)

- -
Computer hardware
At cost 26,143 26,143
Accumulated depreciation (11,627) (2,913)

14,516 23,230
Furniture fixtures & fittings
At Cost 609,027 609,027
Accumulated Depreciation (274,063) (213,160)

334,964 395,867
Land
At fair value (a) 2,466,364 2,739,091

2,466,364 2,739,091
2,818,857 3,164,214

(a)  Land was revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).  The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2016 and recognised at 30 June 2016.  In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $2,466,364 
(2015; $2,739,091).  At reporting date, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its land to the Stage Two development of the Batavia Coast Marina to Landcorp.  
If this occurs the Commission’s associated borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will be repaid by the project.

Information on fair value measurements is provided at Note 18 ‘Fair value measurements’.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below: 

Office 
equipment Communications

Computer 
hardware

Furniture, 
fixtures & 

fittings Land Total
2016 $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 6,028 - 23,230 395,867 2,739,091 3,164,214
Additions - - - - - -
Disposals (written down value) - - - - - -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - - (272,727) (272,727)
Depreciation (3,013) - (8,714) (60,903) - (72,630)
Carrying amount at end of year 3,013 - 14,516 334,964 2,466,364 2,818,857

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 9,038 - - 456,770 2,466,364 2,932,172
Additions - - 26,143 - - 26,143
Disposals (written down value) - - - - - -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - - - - 272,727 272,727
Depreciation (3,012) - (2,913) (60,903) - (66,830)
Carrying amount at end of year 6,026 - 23,230 395,867 2,739,091 3,164,214
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Note 18. Fair value measurement

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Fair value 

At end of period
2016 $ $ $ $
Land (Note 17) - 2,466,364 - 2,466,364

- 2,466,364 - 2,466,364
Assets measured at fair value:
2015 $ $ $ $
Land (Note 17) - 2,739,091 - 2,739,091

- 2,739,091 - 2,739,091

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period.
Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the 
market approach.  Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office accommodation) in close 
proximity is used to determine price per square metre.  The Commission has used the fair value as determined by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and applied the margin scheme in deriving fair value.  

Note 19. Intangible assets 2016 2015
$ $

Computer software
At Cost 17,977 17,977
Accumulated Amortisation (10,982) (6,781)

6,995 11,196
Website
At Cost 32,478 18,096
Accumulated Amortisation (18,489) (18,096)

13,989 -
Total intangible assets 20,984 11,196

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year 11,196 -
Additions - 12,600
Amortisation expense (4,201) (1,404)
Carrying amount at end of period 6,995 11,196

Website
Carrying amount at start of year - -
Additions 14,382 -
Amortisation expense (393) -
Carrying amount at end of period 13,989 -
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Note 22. Amounts due to the Treasurer 2016 2015
$ $

Non-Current
Amount due to the Treasurer 960,000 960,000

960,000 960,000

A liability of $5,000,000 relating to capital works at the Geraldton Foreshore and Marina was transferred to the Geraldton 
Mid West Development Authority (now the Mid West Development Commission) by the Department of Marine and 
Harbours on 30 June 1993.  Since that time repayments totalling $4,040,000 have been made to the Consolidated fund 
thereby reducing the outstanding indebtedness to $960,000.  The loan is interest free and has no set repayment terms.  
Accordingly it has been carried at face value.  At reporting date, the Commission had agreed in principle to contribute its 
land to the Stage Two development of the Batavia Cost Marina to Landcorp.  If this occurs the Commission’s associated 
borrowing from Treasury ($960,000) will be repaid by the project.

Note 20. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2016.

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period.  
At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2016 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

Note 21. Payables 2016 2015
$ $

Current
Accrued salaries - 60,334
Accrued expenses 61,400 95,597
Trade payables 9,371 4,588
Total current 70,771 160,519
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Note 23. Provisions 2016 2015
$ $

Current
Employee benefits provision

Annual Leave (a) 216,928 227,290
Long Service Leave (b) 230,585 182,517
Purchased leave (c) 6,420 7,883

453,933 417,690
Other provisions

Employment on-costs (d) 10,000 9,121
10,000 9,121

463,933 426,811
Non-current
Employee benefits provision

Long Service Leave (b) 97,880 53,732
97,880 53,732

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d) 2,235 1,227

2,235 1,227
100,115 54,959

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  120,732 135,631
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  96,196 91,659

 216,928 227,290
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  6,474 30,065
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  321,991 206,185

 328,465 236,250
(c) Purchased leave scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Actual settlement of liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  6,420 7,883
 6,420 7,883

(d)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including worker’s compensation insurance.  The Commission considers the 
carrying amount of employee on-costs approximates the net fair value.  

The associated expense is disclosed in note 11 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
2016 2015

Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below: $ $

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 10,348 9,186
Additional provisions recognised (3,965) (3,196)
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits 5,852 4,358
Carrying amount at end of period 12,235 10,348
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Note 24. Equity 
The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community.  Equity represents the residual 
interest in the net assets of the Commission.

Contributed equity 2016 2015
$ $

Balance at start of period 355,946 355,946
Balance at end of period 355,946 355,946

Reserves
2016 2015

Asset revaluation surplus $ $
Balance at start of period 2,018,216 1,745,489
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land (272,727) 272,727
Balance at end of period 1,745,489 2,018,216

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
2016 2015

$ $
Balance at start of period 1,976,440 2,007,088
Result for the period (1,387,739) (30,648)
Balance at end of period 588,701 1,976,440

Total equity at end of period 2,690,136 4,350,602
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Note 25. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 14,009 125,412
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to Note 14 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 1,239,305 2,409,919

1,253,314 2,535,331

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
2016 2015

$ $
Net cost of services (4,989,745) (3,950,247)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 77,224 68,234
Services received free of charge 9,302 8,838
Net (gain)/loss on sale of plant and equipment - -

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) 25,629 (25,629)
Exclude receivables movements relating to:

- Revenues from State Government - -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) (89,748) 38,734
Current provisions 37,121 29,462
Non-current provisions 45,156 26,262

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) 24,783 (49,933)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) (61) (1,317)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (4,860,339) (3,855,596)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not 
included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transaction. 

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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Note 26. Commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
2016 2015

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows: $ $

Within 1 year 198,996 218,521
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 843,901 38,220
Later than 5 years - -

1,042,897 256,741

The Commission has entered into a property lease which is a non-cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent 
payable monthly in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease 
payments shall increase by the lower of CPI or 4% per annum.  An option exists to renew the lease at the end of the five 
year term for an additional term of five years.

Other expenditure commitments
2016 2015

Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but 
not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows: $ $

Within 1 year 579,477 1,630,108
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 659,828 829,810

1,239,305 2,459,918

Note 27. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
No events, matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Commission, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Commission in future financial years.
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Note 29. Financial instruments

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Commission. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at 
Note 29 (c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’ and Note 15 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties.  The Commission has policies in place to ensure that services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with 
the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the end of the reporting period there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable 
data indicating changes in client credit ratings.  For financial assets that are either past due or impaired, refer to 
Note 29 (c) ‘Financial instruments disclosure’. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect 
the Commission’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Commission does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. 

(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are:

2016 2015
$ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14,009 125,412
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,239,305 2,409,919
Loans and receivables (a) 153,000 178,629

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,030,771 1,120,519

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 29. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments disclosures

Credit risk

The following table details the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial 
assets. The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of 
financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired 
and impaired financial assets.  The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
 

Aged analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying

Amount

Not past due 
and not 

impaired 
Up to 

3 months
3-12 

months
1-2 

years
2-5 

years
More than 

5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2016

Cash and cash equivalents 14,009 14,009 - - - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,239,305 1,239,305 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) - - - - - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 153,000 153,000 - - - - - -

1,406,314 1,406,314 - - - - - -

2015

Cash and cash equivalents 125,412 125,412 - - - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,409,919 2,409,919 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 25,629 25,629 - - - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 153,000 153,000 - - - - - -

2,713,960 2,713,960 - - - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 29. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Financial instruments disclosures (continued)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details the Commission’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate 
exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.  

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure                  Maturity dates

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest  

rate
Carrying
Amount

 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

 

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non  
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount

Up to 
3 months

3-12 
months

1-2  
years

2-5  
years

More  
than 

5 years
% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 14,009 - - 14,009 14,009 14,009 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 1,239,305 - - 1,239,305 1,239,305 1,239,305 - - - -
Receivables (a) - - - - - - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 153,000 - - 153,000 153,000 - - 153,000 - -

- 1,406,314 - - 1,406,314 1,406,314 1,253,314 - 153,000 - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 70,771 - - 70,771 70,771 70,771 - - - -
Amounts due to the Treasurer - 960,000 - - 960,000 960,000 - - 960,000 - -

- 1,030,771 - - 1,030,771 1,030,771 70,771 - 960,000 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure                  Maturity dates

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest  

rate
Carrying
Amount

 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

 

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non  
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount

Up to 
3 months

3-12 
months

1-2  
years

2-5 
 years

More 
 than 

5 years
% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 125,412 - - 125,412 125,412 125,412 - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 2,409,919 - - 2,409,919 2,409,919 2,409,919 - - - -
Receivables (a) - 25,629 - - 25,629 25,629 25,629 - - - -
Amounts receivable for services - 153,000 - - 153,000 153,000 - - 153,000 - -

- 2,713,960 - - 2,713,960 2,713,960 2,560,960 - 153,000 - -

Financial Liabilities
Payables - 160,519 - - 160,519 160,519 160,519 - - - -
Amounts due to the Treasurer - 960,000 - - 960,000 960,000 - - 960,000 - -

- 1,120,519 - - 1,120,519 1,120,519 160,519 - 960,000 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

None of the Commission’s financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are sensitive to movements 
in interest rates, hence movements in interest rates have no bottom line impact on the Commission’s surplus or equity.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or 
fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated 
in the applicable notes.
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Note 30. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ 2016 2015
0 -  10,000 8 8
10,001 - 20,000 1 -
60,001 - 70,000 - 1
70,001 - 80,000 1 -

$ $
Base remuneration and superannuation 105,996 105,153
Annual leave and long service leave accruals - -
Other benefits 5,693 7,037
The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 111,689 107,190

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the 
accountable authority.

Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total 
fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following 
bands are: 
$ 2016 2015
180,001 - 190,000 - -
290,001 - 300,000 - 1
350,001 - 360,000 1 -
360,001 - 370,000 - -

$ $
Base remuneration and superannuation 222,633 223,084
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 27,547 1,168
Other benefits 105,627 67,359
The total remuneration of senior officers 355,807 291,611

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers 
other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority.

Note 31. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:
2016 2015

$ $
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 26,000 26,500

26,000 26,500
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ADDITIONAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR INFORMATION

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate to for assisting users to assess the Mid West Development Commission’s 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Mid West Development Commission for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

HON MURRAY CRIDDLE					     GAVIN TREASURE
CHAIRMAN		  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
13 September 2016					     13 September 2016
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Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators

Treasurer’s Instruction 904 requires the disclosure of performance information in the Commission’s 
annual report. This information assists interested parties such as government, the community 
and client groups to assess agency performance in achieving government desired outcomes and 
obtaining value for public funds from services delivered.

Broad, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired 
outcomes.  The Commission delivers services to achieve its desired outcome, which ultimately 
contributes to meeting higher level government goals.  The following table illustrates the 
relationship between the Commission’s services and desired outcome with the most appropriate 
government goal.

Government Goal Desired Outcome Services

Stronger Focus on the 
Regions:

Greater focus on service 
delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic 
development to improve the 
overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas.

An environment conducive to the 
balanced economic and social 
development of the Mid West 
region.

1. Information and Advice

2. Investment Facilitation

3. Infrastructure and  
Services Development 
in the Mid West

Austin Street Post Office, Cue
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1.0    Key Effectiveness Indicators

The Commission’s effectiveness indicators are measured through an annual client perceptions 
survey, conducted by an independent market research company.  This information is used to assess 
the effectiveness of the Commission’s contact with businesses and the benefits derived by clients.

Surveys were sent to 260 randomly selected clients that had contact with the Commission in the 
previous 12 months.  One hundred and seventy nine (179) completed surveys were received, 
achieving a response rate of 68.8%.  Based on population homogeneity calculations, the survey 
results demonstrate an overall sampling error within +/- 5% at the 95% confidence level for the 
overall results for clients of the Commission.

One highlight from the customer perceptions survey was that 90.7% of clients agreed that the 
Commission makes a positive contribution towards economic development in the Mid West.  This 
rating has been consistent at around 90% for at least the past eight reporting periods.

The Commission works to develop and support an environment conducive to the balanced economic 
and social development of the Mid West region.  The Commission’s success at this may positively 
impact on clients in a number of ways including helping to reduce obstacles to growth, develop new 
business opportunities, increase trade activity and retain staff / expand employment opportunities.

Accordingly clients were asked a number of questions relating to business development facilitated 
by their contact with the Commission.  Findings are summarised below:

Survey Question
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Target

2015-16
Actual

2015-16

Reduced obstacles to growth 42% 44% 43% 42% 44%

Developed new business opportunities 63% 61% 59% 63% 57%

More trade activity 34% 31% 30% 30% 28%

Retention of staff / expansion of 
employment opportunities 36% 31% 32% 28% 30%

Comments
Results in three of the four criteria were marginally lower in 2015‑16 than 2014‑15, with those 
relating to new business opportunities and trade activity down considerably since 2012‑13.   
This is likely in part due to the Commission no longer providing TradeStart export services to 
Mid West businesses on behalf of Austrade (contract ceased 30 June 2010), which resulted in 
reduction in engagement with Mid West businesses.  This combined with subdued economic 
conditions in a post mining boom environment being a contributing factor.  Despite this, results 
in two of the four criteria remained above target for the reporting period.

2.0    Key Efficiency indicators

The following efficiency indicators are based on the total cost for each of the Service areas 
after excluding Grants and Subsidies expense.  The costs for each Service area comprise 
both direct expenditure and an allocation of general costs and overheads.  The total cost of all 
Services (including Grants and Subsidies expense) is reported in the Commission’s Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as the Total Cost of Services.
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2.1    Service 1 – Information and Advice

Service Description

To contribute to economic growth and employment by developing strategic partnerships between 
government, business and the community, providing a central point of coordination and contact 
and by raising awareness of the Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Target

2015-16
Actual

2015-16

Total cost of Service (1)  (2) $922,924 $894,523 $906,795 $1,026,000 $898,205

Client contacts (inquiries) 4,521 4,203 5,132 4,200 5,336

Cost per client inquiry $102 $106 $88 $122 $84

Client visits 692 1,162 1,489 820 1,068

Cost per client visit $667 $385 $304 $626 $421

	 Note:

	 1.  Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

	 2.  50% of the Total cost of Service is allocated to each of Client Visits and Client Contacts when calculating the respective 	
	      unit costs.

Comments

The actual total cost of service in 2015-16 differs to target primarily due to the timing of project 
expenditure.

The 2015-16 number of client inquiries was 27% above target.  Reasons include high level 
of engagement from the Blueprint’s implementation and strategy development processes, 
combined with the rollout of the contestable Royalties for Regions Mid West Regional Grants 
Scheme.  Despite this and the challenging economic conditions, there has been solid demand 
for Commission services in a variety of areas including advancing projects, assistance with 
securing grant funding, promotion and advocacy and industry development projects.

The total number of client visits in 2015-16 was 30% above target, reflecting the Commission’s 
high level of engagement with clients throughout the region.  Reasons for the increase 
correlate with those attributed to the number of client inquiries (above).  As a result, cost per 
client inquiry and cost per client visit fall below the target cost.
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2.2    Service 2 – Investment Facilitation

Service Description

To create a business environment within the Mid West region that has a diverse economic base 
and is attractive to investors.

Performance Measures
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Target

2015-16
Actual

2015-16

Total cost of Service (1) $981,788 $1,424,611 $1,402,673 $2,938,995 $1,616,128

Projects relating to investment 
facilitation undertaken 15.5 15.5 15.5 15 16

Average cost per project $63,341 $91,910 $90,795 $195,933 $101,008

	 Note: 

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total costs for 2015-16 were below target which is mainly due to the deferral of some 
expenditure for implementing the Mid West Investment Plan.  The lower total cost of service 
combined with a marginally higher number of projects results in a decrease in the average cost 
per project compared to target.

2.3	 Service 3 – Infrastructure and Services Development in the Mid West

Service Description

To assist the development of infrastructure and services and long term economic development 
strategies for the Mid West region.

Performance Measures
Actual

2012-13
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Target

2015-16
Actual

2015-16

Total cost of Service (1) $562,879 $692,023 $732,620 $1,033,995 $843,165

Projects undertaken relating 
to Infrastructure and Services 
development in the Mid West

16 15 15 15 15

Average cost per project $35,180 $46,135 $48,841 $68,933 $56,211

Note:

1. Target and actual total costs and unit costs have been adjusted to exclude Grants and Subsidies Expense.

Comments

Total cost of service for 2015-16 was below target due to the deferral in budgeted Batavia Coast 
Marina expenditure.  Average cost per project fluctuates with the number and size of projects 
being undertaken as well as the timing of their expenditure.  
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS
No Ministerial Directives were received during the financial year.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Pricing policies of services provided
The Commission does not charge for services and this reporting requirement, therefore, 
does not apply.

Capital Works

Capital projects incomplete

The Commission did not have any incomplete capital works projects at the end of 2015-16.

Capital projects complete

The Commission did not complete any capital works projects during 2015-16.

Employment and Industrial Relations

Staff Profile

In 2015-16, the Mid West Development Commission operated with up to 16 staff all of whom were 
located at the Commission’s Geraldton office.

2015-16 2014-15

Full-time permanent 11.1 10.5

Full-time contract 3.5   2.1

Part-time measured on an FTE basis 0.1   0.8

On secondment 1.0   1.0

15.7 14.4
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Staff Development
The Commission has a commitment to the development of its employees.  Our strategy is to build 
a highly skilled and professional workforce and as a result we are building a strong and capable 
team with the ability to adapt to the growth and diversity being experienced in the Mid West.

Various industry specific training and professional development was undertaken as opportunity 
arose.

Workers Compensation
No workers compensation claims have been made within the Commission during 2015-16.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

Contracts with Senior Officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission 
and senior officers.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
Officers of the Commission hold corporate credit cards where their functions warrant usage of 
this facility.  Despite each cardholder being reminded of their obligations under the Commissions 
credit card policy, one employee inadvertently utilised the corporate credit card for the hire 
of DVD’s.  The matter was not referred for disciplinary action as the Chief Finance Officer 
noted prompt advice and settlement of the personal use amount, and, that the nature of the 
expenditure was immaterial and characteristic of an honest mistake.

2016 
$

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the reporting period 14

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the due date (within 5 working days) 14

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after the period (after 5 working days) -

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at balance date -
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Advertising
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Commission incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2015-16 was $14,045.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Class of expenditure Organisation Total expenditure 
2015-16 (inc GST)

Advertising agencies $9,735 Market Creations $1,727 (1)

Rev Design $138 (1)

Western Australian News Ltd $765

Adcorp Australia Limited $6,405

West Coast Media $700

Market research agencies $4,310 Asset Research $4,310

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mailing organisations Nil

1.	 Web hosting and other Internet services.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
In 2007 the Commission, in consultation with the Disability Services Commission and the public, 
developed and submitted a Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in compliance with the 2004 
amendment to the Disability Services Act 1993.

The DAIP was successfully implemented during 2007-08, and the following principles have been 
followed during 2015-16 to continue to address the seven desired DAIP outcomes:

1.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by the Commission.

(i)	 Assessment of all Commission events as to their accessibility by all people.

(ii)	 Amended all grant agreements and contacts to include reference to the Commission’s DAIP.

(iii)	 Reviewed and modified policies to include relevant strategies under the DAIP.

2.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of the Commission.

(i)	 Increased staff awareness of issues of accessibility (see outcome 4).

3.	 People with disabilities receive information from the Commission in a format that will enable 
them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.

(i)	 Provision of all communications in clear and concise language, avoiding jargon.

4.	 People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Commission as other people receive from the Commission.

(i)	 Ongoing annual disability awareness training program for all Commission staff, including 
updating the new staff induction process to address the Commission’s DAIP.

5.	 People with disabilities have the same opportunities to make complaints to the Commission.

(i)	 Alternative formats provided wherever the Commission’s grievance procedures are displayed.

6.	 People with disabilities will have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by the Commission.

(i)	 All venues assessed for accessibility when arranging public consultation events.

(ii)	 Consideration to be made whether any target groups would benefit from public consultation 
to encourage participation.

(iii)	 Ongoing assessment of accessibility of venues when arranging public consultation events.

7.	 Employment – People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and 
maintain employment with a public sector.

(i)	 Vacancy advertisements now include a statement that MWDC is an equal opportunity employer.

(ii)	 Special needs of new employees are identified and any adjustments will be made to 
the workplace and work practices where necessary prior to and as soon after as can be 
reasonably expected after induction depending on the nature of the adjustments.
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1):

1.	 In the administration of the Mid West Development Commission, I have complied with 
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian 
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2.	 I have put in place procedures designed to ensure such compliance and also conducted 
appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement made in 1 is correct.

3.	 The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for 
the reporting period are:

	 Number lodged:	 Nil

	 Number of breaches found, including details  
	 of multiple breaches per application:	 Nil

	 Number still under review:	 Nil

	 Gavin Treasure

	 Chief Executive Officer

	 13 September 2016

Meekatharra sunset
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Records Keeping Plans
As required by the State Records Act 2000, the Commission has an approved 
Records Keeping Plan (RKP).

Periodical record keeping training programs through the Commission’s formal monthly staff 
meetings, as well as an induction program for new employees address the roles of staff and their 
responsibilities in regard to compliance with the Commission’s RKP.

The Records Team within the Commission review the efficiency and effectiveness of its record 
keeping training program regularly, to ensure that key record systems objectives and record 
keeping practices are being met.  A Commission Record Keeping Manual is in place to assist the 
Records Team to formalise and structure the training program for staff.

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS

Substantive Equality
As outlined in the Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the 
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality, this reporting requirement only applies to participating 
agencies.  The Commission is not a participant and this requirement, therefore, does not apply.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The Commission strives to ensure a safe working environment.  Occupational Safety and Health 
(OSH) issues (risks and hazards) can be reported at any time to the Corporate Services Manager 
and are addressed as they are identified.  OSH policies continue to be reviewed and monitored as 
required by the changing needs of the Commission and its working environment.

Staff are made aware of OSH policies and procedures at induction and there are continuing 
awareness sessions during monthly meetings as necessary.

The Mid West Development Commission is compliant with the injury management requirements 
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

The Commission’s annual performance report for 2015-16 against the following indicators: 

Indicator Target 2015-16 Actual 2015-16

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0)

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

0%
0%

0%
0%

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities ≥80% 0%



Mid West Development Commission

Level 2, Foreshore Business Centre 

209 Foreshore Drive 

PO Box 238  │ GERALDTON  WA  6531 

Phone: 08 9921 0702  │ Fax: 08 9921 0707 

Email: info@mwdc.wa.gov.au 

Web: www.mwdc.wa.gov.au

Correspondence should be directed to:

Chief Executive Officer 

Mid West Development Commission 

PO Box 238 

GERALDTON  WA  6531


